FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/15/2021 1:56 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/15/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99527-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 80712-9-I)

INA TATEUCHI and HELICOPTERS UNSAFE HERE, a Washington nonprofit corporation,

Petitioners,

v.

CITY OF BELLEVUE, a Washington municipal corporation, and KEMPER DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, a Washington corporation

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Peter J. Eglick, WSBA No. 8809 Joshua A. Whited, WSBA No. 30509 EGLICK & WHITED PLLC 1000 Second Avenue, Suite 3130 Seattle, Washington 98121 (206) 441-1069 phone (206) 441-1089 fax

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Ina Tateuchi and Helicopters UnSafe Here (HUSH) (collectively Tateuchi) seek review of the Court of Appeals decisions designated in Section II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its Published Opinion in this case on December 28, 2020, reported at *Tateuchi v. City of Bellevue*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 888, 478 P.3d 142 (2020). A copy of the Published Opinion is Appendix A-1 through A-18.¹ On January 29, 2021, the Court of Appeals filed its Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration. A copy of the order is Appendix at A-19.²

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Has the Court of Appeals adopted and applied an erroneous test for abandonment, resulting in the incorrect conclusion that a permit obtained in 2011 for a private helistop on top of a downtown skyscraper should not be revoked due to abandonment under the Bellevue Land Use Code when it has never been used for the landing or takeoff of helicopters

¹ Citations to the Published Opinion will be in the following format: Op. at .

² On February 26, 2021, the Supreme Court Clerk extended the time for filing this Petition to March 15, 2021.

since the permit was issued, and the helistop owner has admitted that permit safety conditions preclude its use?

2. Does RCW 4.84.370 authorize an award attorney's fees on appeal from a land use decision that (a) does not involve a governmental decision to "issue, condition or deny a development permit," but instead involves revocation of a previously issued permit, and (b) the parties granted fees did not prevail in "all prior judicial proceedings?"

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

While providing a basic outline, the Court of Appeals decision fails to acknowledge several key facts or place them in proper context.

This Court recognized more than 20 years ago the significant safety concerns associated with helistops: "We agree with the Court of Appeals that safety and noise remain legitimate concerns associated with this helistop (and helistops in general)." *Dev. Servs. v. City of Seattle*, 138 Wn.2d 107, 120, 979 P.2d 387, 393 (1999). Recent events underscore the very real and significant threats to public safety posed by helicopter operations and helistops, including the catastrophic 2014 KOMO News

helicopter crash near the Space Needle and the more recent Kobe Bryant helicopter crash in California.³

These threats are even more pronounced in densely populated areas such as downtown Bellevue, which has seen immense growth and development. Downtown Bellevue has been one of the fastest growing neighborhoods in the region, second only to Seattle's South Lake Union. Between 2010 and 2017, the downtown Bellevue population increased by 73 percent. As of mid-2018, there were more than 12,400 people living in downtown Bellevue, with a population density of about 18,000 people per square mile -- similar to South Lake Union. The downtown Bellevue core has exploded skyward in the past decade, with more than two dozen high-rise buildings completed or in development in 2017. Substantial

³ See https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/post-nation/wp/2014/03/18/helicopter-crashes-near-the-space-needle-in-seattle/;
https://www.npr.org/2020/01/28/800399644/kobe-bryants-death-puts-a-focus-on-helicopter-safety;
https://www.adailynews.com/2020/01/30/helicopter-crash-that-killed-kobe-bryant-calls-attention-to-mental-state-of-pilots/;
<a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/trafficandcommuting/kobe-bryant-helicopter-crash-underscores-industrys-long-running-safety-struggles/2020/02/08/42a1aba6-4444-11ea-b503-2b077c436617 story.html.

Tateuchi cited these accidents and articles concerning them before the City, in the Superior Court and in the Court of Appeals below. CP 363-64, 2133-34; Brief of Appellants at 5; Appellants' Reply Brief at 19-20. The hyperlinks provided below concerning development in the City of Bellevue were also previously cited by Tateuchi. Appellants' Reply Brief at 18-19.

⁴ https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/data/whats-the-regions-second-fastest-growing-neighborhood-hint-its-not-in-seattle/.

⁵ http://www.seattlemag.com/best-neighborhoods/spot<u>light-bellevue-suburb-thats-city.</u>

development in downtown Bellevue continues with proposed and approved massive office towers up to 600 feet in height in close proximity to the Kemper helistop.⁶

Due to safety concerns, private helistops are no longer permitted in downtown Bellevue. Op. at 2, n.1; CP 313. However, this case concerns the only private use helistop in downtown Bellevue – one approved by the City nearly a decade ago, just before they were prohibited and prior to the immense growth that Bellevue has experience over the last decade.

That approval came on May 16, 2011, when the Bellevue City Council adopted Ordinance No. 6000 granting a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to respondent Kemper Development Company ("Kemper" or "KDC") for a helistop located atop a high-rise at 10500 NE 8th Street, Bellevue, Washington 98004. See CP 1547-54; see also Op. at 2. The site overlooks one of the most densely built and heavily used traffic and pedestrian areas in the City where "new development continues to take place." CP 436; see also CP 437, 447 and 2111 (figures depicting site and helistop location). The CUP was granted by the City Council with

⁶ See "Cloudvue" proposal and approved "600 Bellevue" application on the City's website at https://bellevuewa.gov/sites/default/files/media/pdf_document/2019/8-22-19-Weekly-Permit-Bulletin.pdf. and https://bellevuewa.gov/sites/default/files/media/pdf_document/2021/1-7-21-Weekley-Permit-Bulletin.pdf.

conditions, including one that the helistop could <u>only</u> be used by twin engine helicopters, which are safer than single engine helicopters due to engine redundancy. CP 1550; *see also* Op. at 2.

On February 20, 2013, Kemper applied to the City for removal of the twin engine restriction. CP 2418. The application admitted in no uncertain terms: "the practical effect of the twin engine restriction is the Helistop will not be used." *Id.* Knowing that the helistop could not be used with the twin engine restriction, Kemper nonetheless later affirmatively withdrew its request to modify the permit.⁷

In the nearly ten years since the approval of the CUP in 2011, Kemper has never actually used the helistop. This is confirmed by its ironically titled "Helistop Usage Reports." *See* CP 1454-97. And, it has not had its helistop listed on any official notices or lists of available helistops in the region. *See* CP 2431- 65. Meanwhile, the area around the helistop has exploded with intense development.

⁷ See CP 344 ("Before the City issued a decision on the modification request, an accident involving a single-engine helicopter occurred in Seattle. In October 2015, the City cancelled the modification application based on a request by Kemper.").

⁸ One "demonstration" or "test" flight was apparently orchestrated by Kemper in January, 2015 in an attempt to avoid a finding of abandonment. *See* CP 1467; Op. at 2. But by January 2015 the helistop had already been <u>un</u>used for many years. And it has not been used in the many years since that "demonstration." *See* CP 347 at ¶9 (parties agree "that the helistop has only been used once since it was approved, and that was a <u>demonstration</u> flight.") (emphasis added).

This is the second of two lawsuits concerning Tateuchi's request that the City revoke Kemper's helistop CUP due to abandonment of the permitted use. Tateuchi prevailed in the first lawsuit, in which the King County Superior Court ordered the City to consider and rule on Tateuchi's revocation request after the City refused to do so, in contravention of its own Stipulation. This second lawsuit concerns the City's decision, which the Court of Appeals affirmed in a published opinion.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this petition involves issues of substantial public interest.

A. The Court of Appeal's Test for Abandonment Ensures That Once Approved Even a Land Use that Poses a Significant Threat to Public Safety Can Never Be Deemed Abandoned.

The effect of the Court of Appeals decision here is to allow Kemper to essentially "bank" in perpetuity a private helistop CUP (a use which is now prohibited) that has never been used by a helicopter, despite the intense changes in downtown Bellevue over the past decade.

Rather than apply the Bellevue Code's clear provision concerning CUP abandonment in a straightforward manner, the Court of Appeals

6

⁹ CP 194-243 (December 16, 2016 Order Denying City of Bellevue's CR 12(c) Motion to Dismiss and Granting Petitioners/Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment with attached Oral Ruling in *Tateuchi and Helicopters UnSafe Here v. City of Bellevue and Kemper Development Company*, King County Superior Court Cause No. 16-2-13322-3 SEA).

adopted a universal standard for abandonment, advanced by Kemper and the City, that all but ensures that a conditionally approved land use, once approved, can never be deemed abandoned even where the conditional use never occurs. Its published decision has consequences not just for the citizens of Bellevue, but for citizens in all contexts and jurisdictions with codes that include a specific protective provision concerning abandonment, such as the one in the Bellevue Code.

The Bellevue Land Use Code (LUC) establishes two different standards for abandonment, one for conditional uses (CUP) and a distinct and separate one for nonconforming uses (NCU). The LUC provides for revocation of a CUP when "[t]he use for which the approval was granted has been abandoned for a period of at least one year." LUC 20.30B.170.B.1. There is no intent requirement. The separate LUC provision that addresses abandonment of nonconforming uses specifically includes intent as an element:

2. If a nonconforming use of a structure or land is discontinued for a period of 12 months with the intention of abandoning that use, any subsequent use shall thereafter conform to the regulations of the Land Use District in which it is located. Discontinuance of a nonconforming use for a period of 12 months or greater constitutes prima facie evidence of an intention to abandon.

LUC 20.25A.040.A.2.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals held that the term "abandoned" in the LUC provision concerning <u>conditional uses</u> is analogous to the common law definition of "abandoned" in the <u>nonconforming use</u> context and that, regardless of the different LUC standards for CUP (no intent requirement) and NCU abandonment (intent required), proof of intent is always required because that is what abandonment required at common law. Op. at 10. However, this ignores the principles of statutory construction that the Court of Appeals acknowledged, but misapplied, ¹⁰ as well as the Bellevue Code.

When a legislative body uses different words and different terminology, a different meaning is intended. *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 625-26, 106 P.3d 196 (2005). The more forgiving LUC standard that applies to abandonment of nonconforming uses, which examines intent and only presumes an intention to abandon after one year of nonuse, is not the same standard that applies in the CUP context where no such factors are specified in the Code.

The different treatment in a code, regardless of a generalized common law approach, is not accidental. A conditional use, like the Kemper

_

¹⁰ See Op. at 8 (in determining the plain meaning of a statute, courts look at the statutory context to conclude what the legislature has provided for in the statute and related statutes); Op. at 11 (when a legislative body uses different words or terminology in different parts of a statute, it intends a different meaning).

helistop, is one that was never permitted outright and was instead granted at sufferance and subject to special conditions. "A business attempting to establish a use prohibited by the zoning ordinance must obtain a conditional use permit unless it is a valid nonconforming use. A conditional use permit allows otherwise prohibited activities based on certain restrictions." Rhod-A-Zalea v. Snohomish Cty., 136 Wn.2d 1, 4, 959 P.2d 1024 (1998). In contrast, as *Rhod-A-Zalea* suggests, a nonconforming use is a previously allowed use that was subsequently rendered nonconforming by a zoning change or Code amendment.

Indeed, when it adopted the revocation provision for conditional uses the City Council made clear that cessation of use alone was grounds for revocation regardless of intent: "permits issued for conditional uses which have ceased or been abandoned . . . should be revoked."11

The Court of Appeals compounded the error in imposing an intent element not contemplated by the Bellevue Code for conditional use abandonment. It also erroneously concluded that use occurs, e.g., with regard to the Kemper helistop, as long as it could theoretically be used for

¹¹ Ordinance 4066 at 1 (emphasis added). A copy of Ord. 4066 was attached to Appellants' Brief in the Court of Appeals and can also be accessed https://bellevue.municipal.codes/LUC/20.30B.170 by clicking on the legislative history link that follows LUC 20.30B.170.

the landing and takeoff of helicopters. *See* Op. at 12-14. The single case the Court of Appeals relied on to support this theory is highly distinguishable.

Rosema v. City of Seattle, 166 Wn.App. 293, 269 P.3d 393 (2012), concerned a Seattle Municipal Code (SMC) provision about discontinuance of NCUs, not CUPs, very different than the Bellevue CUP abandonment provision and even very different from the Bellevue NCU provision. The term "use" was also defined differently in the SMC. Rosema v. City of Seattle, 166 Wn. App. 293, 299-300, 269 P.3d 393, 396 (2012) ("Under the SMC 'use' means 'the purpose for which land or a structure is designed, built, arranged, intended, occupied, maintained, let or leased."")

An owner (Nelson) in *Rosema* sought to change his property's duplex use designation to single family use. Seattle refused to do so unless certain modifications were made. The modifications were not made due to expense, Seattle did not change the designation so the duplex use designation remained, and Nelson continued to pay separate utility bills based on duplex use designation. *Rosema v. City of Seattle*, 166 Wn. App. 293, 296, 269 P.3d 393, 394 (2012). The property was then sold and the question arose whether the duplex use continued or had been discontinued/abandoned due to how Nelson had used the property, *i.e.* for single family use. As explained by the Court:

DPD [Seattle Department of Planning and Development] determined the evidence was equivocal as to whether the Nelsons abandoned the right to the nonconforming use and as to whether the structure was used for the use allowed. Given that ambiguity and given the heavy burden to prove lapse of nonconforming use, DPD ruled the nonconforming use did not lapse.

Rosema v. City of Seattle, 166 Wn. App. 293, 300, 269 P.3d 393, 396 (2012). ¹² The Rosema Court noted that it is "DPD practice to assume that a use established by permit remains valid absent clear evidence it has lapsed." *Id.* at fn. 18. ¹³ Under these facts, and given DPD practice and the unique SMC provisions involved, the Rosema Court affirmed DPD, explaining:

We are not persuaded this conclusion was error. Despite living with their family in the entire structure, the Nelsons maintained the separate basement unit, which was legal only if the structure was a nonconforming duplex or the unit was permitted as an additional dwelling unit. They declined to make the structural changes required by the City for recognition as a single-family home or to seek an additional dwelling unit permit, which would have allowed continued maintenance of a second kitchen in a single-family residence. These failures to act do not fairly imply discontinued interest in the property's use as a duplex. Under the code, the legal status of the property necessarily retained its preexisting nonconforming use as a duplex.

Rosema v. City of Seattle, supra, 166 Wn. App. at 300-01.

¹² None of DPD's factual findings were challenged so they were considered verities on appeal. *Rosema v. City of Seattle*, 166 Wn. App. 293, 298, 269 P.3d 393, 395 (2012).

¹³ The City of Bellevue has not established such a practice and the Bellevue LUC provides for no such assumption with regard to CUPs.

Judge Schindler, a former King County Prosecuting Attorney with land use law experience, concurred, highlighting the case's unique nature:

I... write separately to also point out and emphasize the intent of the City to preserve a nonconforming use. A city has the right "to preserve, limit or terminate nonconforming uses subject only to the broad limits of applicable enabling acts and the constitution." *Rhod-A-Zalea & 35th, Inc. v. Snohomish County*, 136 Wn.2d 1, 7, 959 P.2d 1024 (1998). The City of Seattle adopted regulations that favor permitting a nonconforming use and are designed to avoid inadvertently discontinuing a legally established nonconforming use. . . .

The SMC also defines "use" to include what the building is designed for as well as how the building is used. "Use" means the purpose for which land or a structure is designed or maintained. SMC 23.84A.040.

Rosema v. City of Seattle, 166 Wn. App. at 302-03 (emphasis in original).

The Court of Appeals here erred in relying on *Rosema* which involved nonconforming use abandonment and code provisions very different than the ones at issue here under the Bellevue LUC. The Bellevue LUC provides for revocation of a CUP when "[t]he <u>use</u> for which the approval was granted has been abandoned for a period of at least one year." LUC 20.30B.170.B.1 (emphasis added). LUC 20.50.050, part of the LUC definitions section, defines the term "use" by reference to the term "Land Use," which in turn is defined as "[t]he use to which an area of land, or building thereon, is put; <u>human activity taking place thereon</u>." LUC 20.50.032 (emphasis added). In other words, the LUC defines use in

common sense terms of how an area is actively put to use – not what an area or structure is designed for unlike in *Rosema*.

This is further confirmed by the LUC definitions of "heliport" and "helistop." The LUC defines "heliport" as:

....an area of land or water or a structural surface which is <u>used</u> as a permanent facility <u>for the landing and takeoff of helicopters</u>, and any appurtenant areas which are used for heliport buildings and other facilities. Refueling, maintenance, repairs or storage of a helicopter is included in this definition.

LUC 20.50.024 (emphasis added). A helistop use, which is specifically at issue in this case, is identical to a "heliport," "except that no refueling, maintenance, repairs or storage of helicopters is permitted." LUC 20.50.024. Therefore, "the landing and takeoff of helicopters," is the key "human activity" or "use" for a helistop.

The LUC CUP abandonment provision is triggered after one year of nonuse. LUC 20.30B.170.B.1. Here, for nearly ten years, the entire lifespan of the Kemper CUP, there has been <u>no</u> actual helicopter use at the helistop site. CP 1454-97 (helistop (non) usage reports); CP 347 at ¶9. And Kemper's has acknowledged the helistop will not be used:

[T]he practical effect of the twin engine restriction is the Helistop will not be <u>used</u>. 14

¹⁴ CP 2418.

The Court of Appeals decision concluded:

Under the plain language of BLUC 20.50.024, KDC is using the helistop if the land operates as a permanent facility for the landing and takeoff of helicopters. We conclude the record establishes that KDC has been maintaining a "fully operational" permanent facility for the landing and takeoff of helicopters continually since the CUP was issued.

Op. at 13. However, this ignores the operative facts and Bellevue LUC provisions: Kemper has not used and is not using the helistop "for the landing and takeoff of helicopters." There is no human activity taking place at the helistop.

The Court of Appeals decision concludes that "human activity" at the helistop "includes those activities necessary to comply with City building code provisions and FAA regulations, constructing and maintaining operational communications systems and the biannual filing of usage reports" and that "these acts are also objective manifestations of KDC's intent not to abandon the helistop." Op. at 14. However, even if intent were a necessary element – which it is not – this ignores Kemper's acknowledgement that the use will not occur and its withdrawal of its application to eliminate the CUP twin engine safety condition so that the

helistop could be used.¹⁵ Since establishing the helistop facility, the record reflects that Kemper has only filed periodic reports confirming that there are no helicopter takeoffs or landings.¹⁶

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