FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/12/2021 1:15 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99527-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 80712-9-I)

INA TATEUCHI and HELICOPTERS UNSAFE HERE, a Washington nonprofit corporation,

Petitioners,

vs.

CITY OF BELLEVUE, a Washington municipal corporation, and KEMPER DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, a Washington corporation,

Respondents.

KEMPER DEVELOPMENT COMPANY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Alison Moss, WSBA #12767 <u>amoss@schwabe.com</u> Colin Folawn, WSBA #34211 <u>cfolawn@schwabe.com</u> SCHWABE, WILLIAMSON & WYATT, P.C. 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3400 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: 206-622-1711 Facsimile: 206-292-0460

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

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case is not a matter of substantial public interest. It is the culmination of many unsuccessful efforts by Ina Tateuchi and Helicopters Unsafe Here (collectively "Tateuchi") to force the City to revoke KDC's CUP based on abandonment. Tateuchi's land use application dealt solely with the rights of private parties and a single property.

³ Opinion at 18.

The matter before the Court of Appeals dealt with the narrow issue of abandonment. The Opinion does not, as Tateuchi asserts, define abandonment in such a way that an approved conditional use can never be abandoned. BLUC 20.30B.170(B)(1) requires that one seeking revocation of a CUP demonstrate "abandon[ment] for a period of at least one year." As the BLUC does not define "abandonment," the Court of Appeals properly interpreted the term "abandonment" by applying the meaning of that term as used in well-settled nonconforming use law, which requires: (a) an intention to abandon; and (b) an overt act or failure to act. *City of University Place v. McGuire*, 144 Wn.2d 640, 652, 30 P.3d 453 (2001).⁴

The Court of Appeals then properly applied that law to the record on review and found that neither element had been met. Under a different record, abandonment might be found.

Tateuchi contends that the award of fees will discourage others from pursuing permit revocation.⁵ To the extent the fee statute discourages appeals, it will have no greater effect on revocation permits than on any other kind of land use permit. The fee award presents no substantial public interest issue.

⁴ Cited in Opinion at 9–11.

⁵ Petition for Review ("Petition") at 19.

Pursuant to RCW 4.84.370(1), KDC is also entitled to its fees and costs in responding to the Petition for Review and asks for an award.

V. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2008, KDC applied for a CUP to activate an existing helicopter landing pad on the roof of the Bellevue Place building.⁶ Tateuchi appealed the Hearing Examiner's recommendation of approval to the City Council ("Council"), which denied her appeal.⁷ Tateuchi then appealed to King County Superior Court, which upheld the Council.⁸ The CUP imposed numerous conditions on the helistop, including frequency of flights, the hours of operation, flight path, limiting the types of helicopters that may use the helistop, and flight reporting requirements.⁹

In 2014, Tateuchi requested a land use code interpretation finding that KDC abandoned its helistop.¹⁰ The City issued a code interpretation, finding no support for the alleged abandonment. Tateuchi appealed the interpretation to the Hearing Examiner.¹¹ Prior to the hearing, and without

⁶ Opinion at 2; CP 1081, ¶ 2.

⁷ CP 1169–95; 1250–57.

⁸ Opinion at 2, n. 1; CP 674.

⁹ CP 1357–58.

¹⁰ Tateuchi also asked the City to make a finding regarding misrepresentation. Tateuchi did not pursue this claim in her LUPA appeal.

¹¹ CP 344–46 (Hearing Examiner's review of procedural history).

KDC's knowledge, the City and Tateuchi entered into a stipulation allowing Tateuchi to apply to revoke KDC's CUP ("the Stipulation").¹²

In 2016, Tateuchi filed an application to revoke KDC's CUP, presenting arguments identical to those presented in her code interpretation request.¹³ After initially accepting the application, the City determined that Tateuchi lacked standing to file the application¹⁴ and rejected the application.¹⁵ Tateuchi appealed the City's decision to King County Superior Court, alleging breach of the Stipulation.¹⁶ She brought no claim against KDC; the Court dismissed KDC as a party.¹⁷ The Superior Court described the Stipulation as *ultra vires*, as Tateuchi lacked standing, but ultimately determined that the Stipulation could be enforced because it did not mandate a substantive outcome.¹⁸ It ordered the City to perform its obligations under the Stipulation.¹⁹ Tateuchi's 2017 revocation application

- ¹⁵ CP 1729–30.
- ¹⁶ CP 2289–409.
- ¹⁷ CP 2349–52.

¹² CP 613–16.

¹³ CP 603–12.

¹⁴ Under the BLUC, only the property owner, the property owner's authorized representative, or Sound Transit has standing to revoke a CUP. BLUC 20.30B.170(B) (revocation of an approved CUP is a Process I land use decision); 20.35.030(A)(1) (who may apply for Process I land use decisions).

¹⁸ CP 2400–03.

¹⁹ CP 428–30.

²⁰ CP 598–622.

The City held an informational meeting and considered the application.²¹ The Development Services Director recommended denial.²² The Hearing Examiner held an open record hearing on March 22, 2018. A few members of the public testified, most with generalized concerns regarding the safety of operating helistops in the downtown core, an issue the Hearing Examiner concluded was addressed in the original CUP approval and was not before her in this matter.²³ She denied Tateuchi's application, concluding:

[T]he absence of helicopters [sic] landings at the Bellevue Place Helistop is not determinative of discontinuance. As long as KDC has actively maintained and even improved the helistop, it has not committed any overt act evidencing abandonment. Nor does the lack of helicopter landing evidence intent to abandon.²⁴

Tateuchi appealed to the Council, which held a closed record hearing. On October 1, 2018, the Council unanimously passed Ordinance 6429, adopting the Hearing Examiner's Findings and Conclusions of Law.²⁵

Tateuchi filed a Land Use Petition Act ("LUPA") petition and other claims including one under the Open Public Meetings Act ("OPMA"). The Superior Court denied the LUPA claims and dismissed her OPMA claims.²⁶

²¹ Opinion at 3.

 $^{^{22}}$ *Id*.

²³ CP at 351.

 $^{^{24}}_{25}$ *Id*.

²⁵ Opinion at 3-4. ²⁶ Opinion at 4-5.

Tateuchi then sought direct review by the Supreme Court under RAP 4.2(a)(4)'s public issue criterion. The purported issues of broad public import included the proper interpretation of abandonment.²⁷ On November 6, 2019, Department I transferred the case to the Court of Appeals.²⁸

On December 28, 2020, the Court of Appeals issued its Opinion, affirming the Superior Court and awarding attorney's fees to the City and KDC, finding that this CUP revocation decision is a "similar land use" decision under RCW 4.84.370(1) and that Respondents prevailed in all forums below.²⁹ Tateuchi moved for reconsideration of the latter finding only. On January 29, 2021, the Court of Appeals denied the motion for reconsideration.³⁰ This request for discretionary review followed.

VI. ARGUMENT

Tateuchi's petition for review ("Petition") does little more than recirculate the arguments that were unsuccessfully presented to the Court of Appeals. The Petition fails to establish a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

²⁷ Petitioners' Statement of Grounds for Direct Review § III at 6.

²⁸ Opinion at 5.

²⁹ Opinion at 17–18.

³⁰ A copy of the order is provided in Appendix A to the Petition.

A. <u>The meaning of "abandonment": The Court of</u> <u>Appeals' construction of the term follows well</u> <u>established construction of the term in the context</u> <u>of a nonconforming use and does not present an</u> <u>issue of substantial public interest.</u>

The Court of Appeals held that the Hearing Examiner did not erroneously interpret the law in concluding that the BLUC 20.30B.170(B)(1) term "abandoned" requires an overt act and an intention to abandon.³¹ Tateuchi contends that this construction presents an issue of substantial public importance because it "all but ensures that a conditionally approved land use, once approved, can never be abandoned"³²

Her argument is unpersuasive. The Court of Appeals interpretation does nothing more than apply the long-standing common-law definition. The abandonment elements of an overt act and intent date back at least to the Supreme Court's decision in *King County v. High*, 36 Wn.2d 580, 582, 219 P.2d 118 (1950), cited in *Andrew v. King County*, 21 Wn. App. 566, 572, 586 P.2d 509 (1978), *review denied*, 91 Wn.2d 1023 (1979).³³

The meaning of abandonment is a question of law that a court reviews *de novo*.³⁴ When reviewing an ordinance, a court gives considerable

³¹ Opinion at 11–12.

³² Petition at 6–7, 15.

³³ Opinion at 13.

³⁴ *Id.* at 6 (citing *Phoenix Dev., Inc. v. City of Woodinville*, 171 Wn.2d 820, 828, 256 P.3d 1150 (2011)).

deference to the construction of the challenged ordinance by the official charged with its enforcement, here the Hearing Examiner. *See Phoenix Dev.*, 171 Wn.2d at 830; *see also* RCW 36.70C.130(1)(b) (grounds for relief include erroneous interpretation of the law, after allowing for such deference as it is due the construction of the law by a local jurisdiction with expertise).

Below, and again in the Petition, Tateuchi asserts that the BLUC establishes a hard and fast rule for abandonment that requires the City to revoke a CUP after one year of "nonuse."³⁵ This argument fails on many fronts.

First, the operative provision does not refer to nonuse, but abandonment. The BLUC nowhere uses the term "nonuse." Second, her contention is simply untrue. The applicable provision of the BLUC provides that the City *may* revoke an approved CUP only upon a finding that use for which the approval was granted has been abandoned for a period of at least one year.³⁶ "May" is discretionary, not mandatory.³⁷

Third, the BLUC does not define the abandonment.³⁸ Consequently, the Court of Appeals appropriately looked to standard English language

³⁵ Petition at 13.

³⁶ BLUC 20.30B.170(B)(1); Opinion at 7.

³⁷ BLUC 20.50 Definitions ("[T]he word 'shall' is always mandatory, the word 'may' denotes a use of discretion in making a decision.").

³⁸ Opinion at 8.

dictionaries, *Boeing Co. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 113 Wn.2d 869, 877, 784 P.2d 507 (1990), Opinion at 9. The definitions of "abandonment" reviewed by the Court of Appeals include the element of intent.³⁹

The Court of Appeals also looked to the common law, noting that the common-law definition of "abandoned" appears in many land use related contexts, all of which require intent.⁴⁰ It found the common-law definition of "abandoned" most analogous to a CUP is that used in the nonconforming use law: (a) an intention to abandon; and (b) an overt act or failure to act. Opinion at 10–11 (citing *City of University Place v. McGuire*, 144 Wn.2d 640, 652, 30 P.3d 453 (2001)).

Tateuchi argues that nonconforming use case law is distinguishable because her challenge is to a CUP. As she did below, Tateuchi claims that nonconforming uses are vested property rights entitled to greater protection under the law than conditional uses.⁴¹ But as the Court of Appeals found, her argument is not persuasive. While nonconforming uses are "vested property rights which are protected," they are also disfavored, and the policy of zoning legislation is to phase out a nonconforming use. *Van Sant v. City of Everett*, 69 Wn. App. 641, 649, 849 P.2d 1276 (1993).⁴² In contrast, under

³⁹ *Id.* at 9.

⁴⁰ Id.

⁴¹ Opinion at 10; Petition at 8–9.

⁴² Opinion at 11.

the BLUC, a CUP is a mechanism by which the City may require special conditions on development or the use of land in order to ensure that the use or activity is compatible with other uses in the same land use district and in the vicinity of the subject property.⁴³ In other words, a CUP is not disfavored but tailored to the particular circumstances.

As she did below, Tateuchi argues that a comparison of the BLUC nonconforming use provisions with the CUP revocation provisions shows the City's intent to treat revocation of these uses differently.⁴⁴ In essence, Tateuchi argues that, based on these specific BLUC provisions, Bellevue may consider a landowner or permit holder's intent only in the context of abandonment of a nonconforming use and not a CUP. The Court of Appeals appropriately held that when "the legislature uses a term well known to the common law, it is presumed that the legislature intended [it] to mean what it was understood to mean at common law." Opinion at 11 (citing *Ralph v*. *Dep't of Nat. Res.*, 182 Wn.2d 242, 248, 343 P.3d 342 (2014)). For these reasons, the Court of Appeals properly held that the Hearing Examiner did not erroneously interpret that law in concluding that the term "abandoned" in BLUC 20.30B.170(B)(1) means an overt act and an intent to abandon.

⁴³ BLUC 20.30B.120.

⁴⁴ Petition at 7-9.

B. <u>The record on review demonstrates that its</u> <u>construction of "abandonment" does not ensure</u> <u>that a conditional use CUP can never be</u> <u>abandoned.</u>

The Court of Appeals Opinion does not, as Tateuchi contends, "all but ensure[] that a conditionally approved land use, once approved, can never be abandoned"⁴⁵ Rather, it upheld the Hearing Examiner's conclusion that, *based on the evidence before her*, Tateuchi had not borne her burden of demonstrating either prong of abandonment. A different record might support a finding of abandonment; this one did not. There is simply no issue of substantial public importance presented.

Tateuchi further argues that discretionary review is warranted to prevent conditional use permit holders from "banking" their permits for years.⁴⁶ There is simply no evidence to support this speculative argument. Nor does Tateuchi explain what the harm from such "banking" may be or how it rises to a substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Speculation does not warrant discretionary review.

Relief may be granted under LUPA if the land use decision is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court, RCW 36.70C.130(1)(c), or if the land use decision

⁴⁵ Petition at 6–7, 15.

⁴⁶ Petition at 6.

is a clearly erroneous application of the law to the facts, RCW 36.70C.130(1)(d). When reviewing the sufficiency of evidence, the court views the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the party that prevailed in the highest forum exercising fact-finding authority. *Phoenix Dev.*, 171 Wn.2d at 828. In this case, the highest forum exercising fact-finding authority was the Hearing Examiner before whom the Respondents prevailed. A finding is clearly erroneous when, although there is evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the record is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed. *Phoenix Dev.*, 171 Wn.2d at 829, (citing *Wenatchee Sportsmen Ass'n. v. Chelan County*, 141 Wn.2d 169, 176, 4 P.3d 123 (2000)).

Tateuchi bore the burden of proving that KDC abandoned its permitted use for a period of at least one year. *Skamania County v. Woodall*, 104 Wn. App. 525, 540, 16 P.3d 701 (2001). The burden of proof is not an easy one. *City of University Place v. McGuire*, 144 Wn.2d 640, 647, 30 P.3d 453 (2001), (citing *Van Sant*, 69 Wn. App. at 647–48). If Tateuchi had borne her burden, the burden would then have shifted to KDC to produce objective evidence it did not intend to abandon the use. *Miller v. City of Bainbridge Island*, 111 Wn. App 152, 164, 43 P.3d 1250 (2002).

The Hearing Examiner found that substantial evidence in the record demonstrates that KDC did not abandon the helistop. The CUP authorizes KDC to prepare and activate the helistop. KDC prepared and activated the helistop, as evidenced by KDC's obtaining the permits for and upgrading the facility to current FAA standards and City building code requirements.⁴⁷ In 2013, the site became operational.⁴⁸ KDC has continually maintained the communications systems and website required by the CUP.⁴⁹ It filed required flight reports attesting that the helistop is *fully operational*.⁵⁰ The Court of Appeals properly found that these actions constitute substantial evidence in the record supporting the Hearing Examiner's conclusion that KDC had not abandoned its use.

As she did below, Tateuchi makes much of the BLUC definition of "land use" as "[t]he use to which an area of land, or building thereon, is put; human activity taking place thereon."⁵¹ Tateuchi focuses on the reference to "human activity," largely ignoring the initial definition as the use to which an area of land is put. In footnote 14, the Court of Appeals noted that a semicolon is used to show a stronger separation between the parts of a sentence than a comma can accomplish.

The Court of Appeals first looked to the area of land to be put to the permitted use. The CUP authorizes a helistop, defined as "a structural

⁴⁷ Opinion at 2.

⁴⁸ *Id*.

⁴⁹ Id.

⁵⁰ Opinion at 2.

⁵¹ Petition at 12–13 (citing BLUC 20.50.032).

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